THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED
FEB 01 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Florence County Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001339

Saquawn M. Lacy,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III

LAUREN C. HOBBS

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III, ATTORNEY AT LAW, LLC
522 North Church Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 331-1612

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DENYING RELIEF AND FINDING THAT COUNSEL'S MISADVICE AS TO SENTENCING UNDER THE PLEA AGREEMENT DID NOT RENDER PETITIONER'S GUILTY PLEA NOT KNOWINGLY OR VOLUNTARILY MADE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florence County grand jury indicted Petitioner Saquawn Lacy for attempted murder in April 2014. App. pp. 105-106. Assistant Solicitor John Jepertinger prosecuted the case. John Etheridge, Esquire first represented Petitioner and B. Scott Suggs, Esquire¹ was later retained and represented Petitioner through plea and sentencing. App. p. 44, ln. 1-6.

On September 8, 2014 before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Petitioner pleaded guilty to assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) as per an agreement with the State in which there was ten (10) year sentencing cap. App. pp. 1-4. Petitioner was sentenced to nine (9) years with four (4) days credit for time served. App. p. 23, ln. 7-8; p. 21, ln. 24-25; p. 107. Petitioner did not appeal.

On September 16, 2014, Petitioner filed a motion to reconsider the sentence on the grounds that Petitioner's understanding of the plea negotiation was that it was for a five (5) year sentence; Petitioner's limited comprehension and mental processing skills hindered his ability to fully understand the plea agreement or proceedings, as well as the self-defense issue. App. p. 108. *See infra* pp. 8-9. The motion to reconsider was denied.

On April 6, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (APCR) raising numerous grounds for relief. App. pp. 25-31. Respondent, represented by Assistant Attorney General J. Croom Hunter, filed a return to the application on August 18, 2016. App. pp. 33-36. An evidentiary hearing was held on November 15, 2017 before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. App. p. 37. The undersigned, William G. Yarborough III, Esquire appeared on Petitioner's behalf. Assistant Attorney General Lindsey McCallister appeared for Respondent. Petitioner and Counsel were both present and testified. Petitioner's mother, Sophia Lacy, also testified. The PCR Court

¹ Hereinafter referred to as "Counsel."

denied relief, the final order of dismissal was filed on July 12, 2018. App. pp. 92-104. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The charges arose on December 18, 2013 at a hole-in-the-wall pool hall owned and operated by Petitioner's brother, John Lacy IV. App. p. 9, ln. 21-24. Jeremiah Park, a family friend of the Lacy family, had been playing pool with John, and they all were celebrating Christmas early that night. App. p. 9, ln. 24 – p. 10, ln. 5; p. 11, ln. 7-10. At some point that night, Park and John argued over a pool game and soon after began fighting. App. p. 10, ln. 8-13; p. 18, ln. 18-25. Park was punching John, and just as he knocked John unconscious, Petitioner fired two bullets, the first missing Park but the second striking him in his hip. App. p. 10, ln. 14-19; p. 18, ln. 18-25. The State alleged that Petitioner then fired a third shot that went through the pool table after Park took cover underneath. App. p. 10, ln. 19-21. Park left the establishment and called paramedics and law enforcement from his cousin's home a few houses away. App. p. 10, ln. 22-24. Park's injuries were life-changing; he required the use of a colostomy bag, had undergone three surgeries by the time of the guilty plea and was expected to need two or three more. App. p. 11, ln. 21-23; p. 15, 11-15, ln. 18-25. Park informed the court at sentencing that he had known Petitioner and his family all his life and their parents had grown up together. App. p. 15, ln. 7-10. Park also stated he never thought about seriously hurting Petitioner. App. p. 15, ln. 10-11. Solicitor Jepertinger noted that he did not think Park and either Lacy brother "had any hard feelings between them before the night of this incident." App. p. 11, ln. 8-10.

Guilty Plea Colloquy

At the plea colloquy, Solicitor Jepertinger stated that there was a negotiated cap of ten (10) years at the start of the proceedings. App. p. 4. Judge Jefferson informed Petitioner that the maximum sentence for the ABHAN charge was twenty (20) years and that he should assume he

was not parole eligible and would serve any sentence received day for day. App. pp. 8-9. Petitioner's plea was accepted without informing him that the judge was not bound to the plea agreement's terms in regard to sentencing and Petitioner was not asked whether he understood the terms of the plea agreement. App. pp. 12-14.

PCR Hearing

Petitioner explained that he had been friends with Park long before that night and the two had made peace since. App. p. 48, 7-14. In response for more details on the events, Petitioner testified Park had "blind sighted" his brother, knocking John out, and was charging at Petitioner with a pool stick in his hand when Petitioner shot him. App. p. 48, ln. 21-24; p. 57, ln. 23 – p. 58, ln. 1. Petitioner also stated that Park had ran around the pool table, not underneath it. App. p. 58, ln. 12-23. Petitioner had felt threatened and scared for his brother and himself. App. p. 48, ln. 17 – p. 49, ln. 2. Petitioner recalled discussing the case with Etheridge, explaining to Etheridge he believed he had a defense to the charge. App. p. 44, ln. 12-20; p. 45, ln. 21-24. Etheridge did not review discovery with him and explained only that he would "help [Petitioner] out on it." App. p. 44, ln. 14-20. Petitioner discussed with Counsel the "self-defense" claim he felt applied to the case. App. p. 46, ln. 5-6. Counsel did not substantially revisit the issue with Petitioner. App. p. 53, ln. 13-19. Petitioner felt as though Counsel did not explore the possibility of any defense enough. App. p. 53, ln. 20-22. Petitioner testified that during a brief meeting between he, Counsel, and Solicitor Jepertinger before the plea hearing, he was told the recommendation from the State at sentencing was going to be at most five (5) years, and that Counsel told him he would get Petitioner the five (5) year sentence cap, perhaps even a sentence under the Youthful Offender Act (YOA). App. p. 46, ln. 9-25; p. 51, ln. 8-16. Petitioner's mother, Sophia Lacy, testified she did not have

personal knowledge of that meeting; but she had met with Counsel after that meeting at which time he informed her that the sentence would be zero (0) to five (5) years. App. p. 47, ln. 4-5; p. 61, ln. 13-24; p. 62, ln. 1-19, ln. 25; p. 63, ln. 1-7; p. 66, ln. 20 – p. 68, ln. 3. Petitioner's mother felt as though her son understood what Counsel had re-relayed to him in her presence about the five (5) years. App. p. 63, ln. 2-7. Petitioner did not know his charge was ineligible for a YOA sentence until PCR Counsel informed him. App. p. 51, ln. 17-24. Notwithstanding YOA, Petitioner believed that the five (5) year recommendation from the State made it a "done deal" notwithstanding the ten (10) year sentencing cap. App. p. 47, ln. 20 – p. 48, ln. 4; p. 54, ln. 16-20. Petitioner testified that he accepted the plea bargain and went forward with pleading guilty because he believed he was going to get five (5) years. App. p. 47, ln. 18-25; p. 48, ln. 3-4; p. 49, ln. 17-18; p. 52, ln. 7-16; p. 59, ln. 22 – p. 60, ln. 1. He was surprised to receive a nine (9) year sentence and explained that he did not feel like he could or was permitted to stop proceedings to inform the court of the five (5) years. App. p. 48, ln. 5-6; p. 49, ln. 17 – p. 50, ln. 8. Petitioner felt intimidated, finding it difficult to speak in court and felt the entire process was rushed. App. p. 50, ln. 5-8; p. 56, ln. 7-9.

Counsel testified he recalled meeting with Petitioner "One, two...at least four times". App. p. 71, ln. 20-24. Counsel did not "recall any negotiations or any comments or writing of five years" or the cap. App. p. 76, ln. 2-5; *see also* App. p. 74, ln. 24 – p. 75, ln. 4. Counsel recalled meeting with his mother before the plea but was unsure as to that specific date. App. p. 75, ln. 13-16. Counsel did recall the meeting about the plea between he, Solicitor Jupertinger, and Petitioner at the courthouse, but stated it took place a few weeks prior to the plea hearing. App. p. 76, ln. 3 – p. 77, ln. 15. As for a YOA sentence, Counsel explained that if the subject came up between he and Petitioner during the course of his representation, he would have told Petitioner that both the

indicted offense of attempted murder and ABHAN do not qualify for a YOA sentence. App. p. 78, ln. 10 – 2 1. Counsel testified that due to the extent of Park’s injuries and the original charge being attempted murder, “a negotiated ten was an excellent result.” App. p. 76, ln. 3-4.

The PCR Court denied relief on this ground, finding Counsel committed no error that would have rendered Applicant’s plea not knowingly or voluntarily entered. App. p. 103. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The PCR applicant has the burden of proving the allegations of the PCR petition. *Bannister v. State*, 333 S.C. 298, 302, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). Upon review, if no probative evidence exists to support the PCR Court's findings, this Court will reverse. *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 144, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000) (citing *Holland v. State*, 322 S.C. 111, 470 S.E.2d 378 (1996)); *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). Great deference is given to a PCR judge's findings on credibility. *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010). Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Lomax v. State*, 379 S.C. 93, 101, 665 S.E.2d 164, 168 (2008). When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the Supreme Court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea and the evidence presented at the hearing on an application for postconviction relief. *Anderson v. State*, 342 S.C. 54, 535 S.E.2d 649 (2000).

ARGUMENT

The PCR Court erred in concluding Counsel was not ineffective and finding his performance did not render Petitioner's guilty plea not knowingly or voluntarily entered. Because there is no evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's findings and the PCR Court's dismissal of the present application is based upon an error of law, Petitioner urges this Honorable Court to reverse the PCR Court's Order of Dismissal, vacate his conviction and sentence, and remand for a new trial.

I. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DENYING RELIEF AND FINDING COUNSEL'S MISADVICE AS TO SENTENCING UNDER THE PLEA AGREEMENT DID NOT RENDER PETITIONER'S GUILTY PLEA NOT KNOWINGLY OR VOLUNTARILY MADE.

Because a guilty plea is not only an admission to certain conduct but is also a "depriv[ation] of liberty or other constitutionally protected interests", due process protections attach. *State v. Nesbitt*, 411 S.C. 194, 200, 768 S.E.2d 67, 70 (2015) (citing *Mabry v. Johnson*, 467 U.S. 504, 507, (1984); *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969)). *See also* U.S. Const. amend. XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. ("[A]bandonment of these rights cannot be due to ignorance or incomprehension for a plea of guilty is more than an admission of conduct, it is a conviction."). *State v. Armstrong*, 263 S.C. 594, 598 211 S.E.2d 889, 891 (1975). The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is "whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985) (quoting *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 31 (1970)). *See also Gustine v. State*, 325 S.C. 123, 127-28, 480 S.E.2d 444, 446 (1997). ("[W]aivers of constitutional rights not only must be voluntary but must be knowing, intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences"). To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly

entered, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); *Dover v. State*, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991). *See also State v. Lopez*, 352 S.C. 373, 378-79, 574 S.E.2d 210, 213 (Ct. App. 2002) (“A guilty plea must be an informed and intelligent decision.”) (citing *Boykin*, 395 U.S. at 241-44).

A criminal defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina State Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; S.C. Const. art. 1, § 14. Relief is warranted for its violation when counsel's performance was deficient and the defendant was prejudiced as a result. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1985). “In the context of a guilty plea, the deficiency prong inquiry turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered.” *Taylor v. State*, 404 S.C. 350, 360, 745 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2013) (citing authority omitted). *See also Alexander v. State*, 303 S.C. 539, 542, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991) (“Simply put, the first inquiry is whether counsel's *advice* was deficient.”) (*italics added*). The prejudice prong is satisfied when but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty and instead would have proceeded to trial. *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 56; *Jordan v. State*, 297 S.C. 52, 374 S.E.2d 683 (1988). *See also Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 542, 402 S.E.2d at 485 (holding that the inquiry is not based upon whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial).

Here, the PCR Court erred in denying relief because misadvice as to the negotiated sentence induced Petitioner to plead guilty. Petitioner and his mother testified that Counsel each informed them that the negotiated range was up to five (5) years and that Petitioner was going to receive a five (5) year sentence under the terms of the agreement. Such misadvice as to the negotiated sentence was deficient performance and Petitioner would not have pleaded guilty had

he known he could receive up to ten (10) years under the agreement. South Carolina courts have found that a defendant's misunderstanding such as here regarding his guilty plea or the agreement rendered the defendant's guilty plea not knowingly or voluntarily made and such misadvice to constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. *Thompson v. State*, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000); *Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 542-43, 402 S.E.2d at 485-86; *Craddock v. State*, 327 S.C. 303, 491 S.E.2d 251 (1997); *Hinson v. State*, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989); *State v. Riddle*, 278 S.C. 148, 151, 292 S.E.2d 795, 796 (1982) (finding the defendant's plea not knowingly entered because he misunderstood the scope of the plea agreement on sentencing) (Ness, J.J. and Harwell, J.J., dissenting); *State v. Hazel*, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980). See also *State v. Armstrong*, 263 S.C. at 597, 211 S.E.2d at 890 ("Accuracy is paramount; force, threats, or lack of knowledge and understanding by the accused deprive a guilty plea of validity."). In addition to Petitioner's testimony that he would not have pleaded guilty had he known the agreement was rather for a ten (10) year sentencing cap, Petitioner's persistence and his belief as to the viability of his self-defense claim further demonstrates that he genuinely would have proceeded to trial but for Counsel's misadvice as to the sentencing terms of the agreement.

Nonetheless, the PCR Court found no error on the part of Counsel, finding Petitioner "presented no evidence or valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements made at the plea." App. p. 102.² There is no evidence of probative value to support the

² The PCR Court also found that "Applicant confirmed he understood the plea deal was a range of zero to ten years" during the guilty plea proceedings, and concluded "Counsel was not deficient, as he clearly explained all the terms of the agreement to Applicant." App. p. 102-03. There was no testimony at either the PCR or plea proceeding to directly or implicitly support either blanket statement. App. pp. 12-14; see also *supra* p. 8. Moreover, presuming that Petitioner understood the terms of the cap when the guilty plea hearing transcript is silent to his understanding of this term is impermissible. See *generally Boykin*, 395 U.S. at 241-42 (applying the rule: "Presuming waiver from a silent record is impermissible" to the waiver of constitutional rights at guilty plea proceedings).

PCR Court's findings. Petitioner and his mother testified to the five (5) sentence and cap as per their discussions with Counsel. Counsel testified he could not recall any negotiation or discussion with Petitioner or with his mother about the five (5) year sentence or cap; although he did remember the meetings where Petitioner and his mother stated Counsel had told them about the five (5) years. Counsel's inability to recall does not serve to refute Petitioner and his mother's testimony and the PCR Court made absolutely no findings as to credibility for this ground. *Jackson v. State*, 342 S.C. 95, 97-97, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000) (reversing because although the PCR judge found petitioner's testimony that he would not have pled had he known the charge was a felony, *there was no evidence contradicting or conflicting with petitioner's testimony* that would support the PCR judge's findings) (italics added); *cf. Smith v. State*, 369 S.C. 135, 138-39, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261-62 (2006) (defendant would have satisfied the burden to prove ineffective assistance of counsel had he sufficiently stated he would not have pleaded guilty but for counsel's misadvice, although he had so alleged in his PCR application, because the State had offered no evidence to the contrary); *see also Id.* ("This Court, in *Jackson* and *Alexander*, held that the undisputed testimony of a PCR applicant is sufficient to warrant relief.") (citing *Jackson v. State*, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000); *Alexander v. State*, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (1991)). *See also Dean v. State*, Case No. 2012-212092, No. 2015-UP-176 (Ct. App. 2015); *Knox v. State*, 340 S.C. 81, 530 S.E.2d 887 (2000) ("In this case, counsel testified she never discussed parole with Knox. This testimony is uncontested. Moreover, there is no evidence Knox would not have pled guilty but for counsel's failure to advise him regarding parole"), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Therefore, Petitioner satisfied his burden to prove deficiency as to the misadvice on the part of Counsel and to prejudice as he testified he

would not have pleaded guilty had he known the agreement set a sentence that was up to ten (10) years rather than five (5) years.

Moreover, although the PCR hearing testimony was summarized initially in the order of dismissal, the PCR Court's reasoning refers to only the plea hearing transcript. App. p. 102. This was an error of law. *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 573 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (“In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing’...‘Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing.’”), *overruled on other grounds by Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (quoting *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007); *Roddy v. State*, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 420-21 (2000)).

CONCLUSION

But for Counsel's misadvice regarding the plea agreement, Petitioner would not have pleaded guilty and instead would have proceeded to trial. Counsel's misadvice as to the sentencing range under the plea agreement was deficient and prejudicial, thereby rendering Petitioner's guilty plea not knowingly, intelligently, or voluntarily made. Petitioner thus requests this Honorable Court to grant certiorari, reverse the PCR Court's order of dismissal, as well as Petitioner's conviction and sentence, and remand for a new trial.