STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUN 28 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Florence County  
The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001339

Saquawn Monte Lacy,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar #79054

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Saquawn Monte Lacy (Petitioner) is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Florence County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted at the April 2014 term of the Florence County Grand Jury for one count of attempted murder. Petitioner was represented by B. Scott Suggs, Esquire. On September 8, 2014, Petitioner pleaded guilty as indicted. The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson sentenced him to a term of imprisonment of nine years for attempted murder. He did not appeal this conviction or sentence

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction Relief (PCR) on April 6, 2015, raising multiple allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Respondent made its return on August 18, 2016. The circuit court convened an evidentiary hearing into the matter on November 15, 2017, at the Florence County Courthouse before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. William G. Yarborough, III, Esquire, represented Petitioner. Lindsey A. McCallister, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented Respondent. At the hearing, Petitioner argued his guilty plea was not freely and voluntarily entered because Counsel gave erroneous advice as to the details and content of the plea agreement.

Petitioner testified on his own behalf and presented testimony from his mother, Sophia Lacy. B. Scott Suggs, Esquire (Counsel) testified for the State. The PCR court found Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel, the plea was entered into freely and voluntarily, and dismissed Petitioner's application by order filed July 12, 2018.

Petitioner filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to this Court, along with an Appendix, on January 28, 2019. This Return to the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On appellate review, courts defer to a post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record to support them. Id. at 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839 (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the lower court. Id. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the [proceeding] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id., 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. When there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove counsel's representation was below the standard of reasonableness and that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59 (1985); Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 18, 2013, Jeremiah Park (Park) visited the pool hall and bar run by Petitioner's brother, John Lacy (John). App. p. 9. There was a Christmas celebration going on with the bar serving food and drinks. App. p. 10. Around 8:00 p.m., Park and John began shooting pool together, and Park quickly won several games. App. p. 10. When Park went to get change for a dollar bill, he and John began arguing. App. p. 10. Petitioner, who present elsewhere in the bar, pulled a gun and shot at Park. App. p. 10. When the first shot missed, Petitioner fired again, striking Park in the hip. App. p. 10. Park then crawled underneath the pool table in an attempt to escape. App. p. 10. Petitioner fired a third time, through the pool table, again missing Park. App. p. 10.

Park managed to escape the bar and went to his cousin's home nearby, where EMS responded and took him to the hospital. App. pp. 10-11. The next day, Park identified Petitioner as the shooter. App. p. 11. Park's injuries required multiple surgeries, including the placement of a colostomy bag. App. p. 11.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court correctly found Petitioner entered into the guilty plea freely and voluntarily where Petitioner understood the potential sentencing range, the solicitor clearly stated on the record the parties had agreed to a negotiated cap of ten years, Petitioner signed a sentencing sheet indicating the plea was negotiated for a cap of ten years, and plea counsel denied any knowledge of a five-year offer or ever conveying such an offer to Petitioner.**

Petitioner asserts Counsel rendered ineffective assistance such that his plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered. Specifically, Petitioner contends Counsel was ineffective because he thought he would receive a five-year sentence if he pleaded guilty, and instead he received nine years. PWC pp. 13-14. The PCR court found Counsel adequately explained the terms of the plea, and Petitioner entered into the plea agreement freely and voluntarily. The PCR court's order was proper because the record reflects the solicitor articulated a negotiated cap of ten years, Petitioner and Counsel confirmed their understanding the agreement was for a negotiated cap of ten years, and Counsel emphatically denied any knowledge of a five-year offer or every conveying such an offer to Petitioner. Thus, this Court should deny certiorari and affirm the decision of the PCR court.

“[I]t is the prerogative of any person to waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced.” Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 597, 211 S.E.2d 889, 890 (1975)). An applicant who pleads guilty with the advice of counsel may collaterally attack the plea only by showing (1) counsel was ineffective and (2) there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Roscoe, 345 S.C. at 20, 546 S.E.2d at 419. An applicant alleging his guilty plea was induced by ineffective assistance of counsel must prove counsel's advice was not “within the competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.”

Hill, 474 U.S. at 56. Further, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 138, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969)).

A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and "may be accomplished by colloquy between the court and defendant, between the court and defendant's counsel, or both." Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000) (citing State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). "In considering an allegation on PCR that a guilty plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether any possible error by counsel was cured by the information conveyed at the plea hearing." Id. at 138-39, 654 S.E.2d at 874 (citing Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 165, 485 S.E.2d 367, 370 (1997)). "A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges" against the defendant; thus, an applicant's right to contest the validity of such a plea is generally foreclosed. Dalton, 376 S.C. at 137-38, 654 S.E.2d at 874 (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63 (1977)). Admissions "made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless [an applicant] presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements." Id. (citing Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir. 1975); Edmonds v. Lewis, 546 F.2d 566 (4th Cir. 1976)).

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified he understood the plea agreement was to a negotiated sentence cap of ten years, but he nonetheless believed he would only receive five years. App. pp. 46-48. Petitioner testified he and Counsel met with the solicitor "before court... before [he] went up" to negotiate the ten-year cap, but Counsel told him he would only be sentenced to five years. App. pp. 45-46. In support of this allegation, Petitioner's mother

testified<sup>1</sup> Counsel told her about the five-year sentence after the meeting and showed her a piece of paper with “zero to five” written on it. App. p. 67. Petitioner did not introduce this paper or note at the evidentiary hearing.

However, the sentencing sheet contained a handwritten note directly above Petitioner’s signature stating “cap of ten (10) years.” App. p. 107. Furthermore, the solicitor clearly stated the negotiation “[was] that there would be a cap of ten years,” and Counsel agreed. App. p. 4. Importantly, the plea judge asked Petitioner if there had been any plea negotiations other than what had already been stated on the record, and Petitioner answered, “No, ma’am.” App. p. 13. He further affirmed he was entering the guilty plea freely and voluntarily. App. pp. 13-14. During mitigation, Counsel again referred to the sentencing cap of ten years and asked the plea judge to consider “something less.” App. pp. 19-20. Both Petitioner and his mother then spoke to the plea judge on the record, and neither of them informed the plea court of Petitioner’s belief he would receive a five-year sentence. App. pp. 20-21. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner offered no explanation for why he did not inform the plea judge of the alleged negotiation for a five-year sentence or his belief that was the sentence he was to receive other than that he was “intimidated” in court. App. pp. 54-55.

Counsel agreed he, Petitioner, and the deputy solicitor had an in-person meeting to discuss the case and engage in negotiations, but according to Counsel this meeting took place several weeks before the plea. App. p. 76. Counsel did not recall Petitioner’s mother being present for that meeting. App. pp. 76-77. Counsel unequivocally testified he did not remember any negotiation or agreement for a five-year sentence, and the first time he heard of such a claim

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent objected to this testimony as inadmissible hearsay, as Petitioner’s mother admitted she was not present for the meeting and did not have any firsthand knowledge of what was said. However, the PCR court overruled Respondent’s objection. App. pp. 62, 67.

was at the evidentiary hearing. App. pp. 74-75. Counsel also denied ever writing down “five years” and showing it to Petitioner’s mother. App. pp. 75-76.

Accordingly, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not deficient as Petitioner was clearly informed the plea agreement was for a negotiated cap of ten years, both he and Counsel agreed this was the negotiation on the record at the guilty plea, the sentencing sheet signed by Petitioner reflects a ten-year negotiated cap, and Petitioner presented no evidence other than his and his mother’s self-serving testimony as to a five-year plea offer. Furthermore, “[w]ishful thinking regarding sentencing does not equal a misapprehension concerning the possible range of sentences, especially where one acknowledges on the record that one knows the range of sentences and that no promises have been made,” as Petitioner did here. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 165, 485 S.E.2d at 371; see also State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 380, 158 S.E.2d 189, 191-92 (1967) (“The accused and his counsel were presumed to know that probation was a matter wholly within the discretion of the court, and they had no right to assume the result of the exercise of that discretion. An accused is not permitted to speculate on the supposed clemency of the judge and enter a plea of guilty with the right to retract it if he finds that his expectation was not realized.”).

As detailed above, there is abundant probative evidence in the record, including Petitioner’s own testimony, Counsel’s testimony, and the record of the plea hearing, to support the PCR court’s finding Counsel was not deficient in his advice or explanation of the agreement to the Petitioner, and the plea was entered into knowingly and voluntarily.